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In early March of this year, 
Portland Mayor Tom Potter told 
a Somali immigrant who had 

been stopped four times in 18 months 
that the police actions “smacked of 
racism.”1 More egregious cases have 
come to the attention of the North-
west Constitutional Rights Center in 
recent months: in one case, a young 
African American male had been 
pulled over nearly 20 times in less 
than two years—and three times on 
a single day. The purported reasons 
for the stops, according to police 
reports, were minor traffi c violations, 
such as failing to signal a turn or hav-
ing the front tires of his vehicle in 
the pedestrian crosswalk. Citywide 
statistics have revealed that these are 
not isolated cases of racial profi ling 
by the Portland police.

The Portland Police Bureau recently 
released traffi c stops data for 2004 and 
2005. In the traffi c stops in both years, 
African Americans and Hispanic/La-
tino drivers were overrepresented. 
Thirteen percent of the total number 
of stops in each year were of drivers 
who were African Americans, despite 
the fact that African Americans con-
stitute only about 6% of the Portland 
population.2 By contrast, whites make 
up about 79% of the population but 
were stopped in only 69% of the traf-
fi c stops in 2005. Moreover, African 
Americans and Latinos/Hispanics 
were twice as likely to be searched 
during the stops as whites, despite 
the fact that whites were found to 
have contraband more often than 
either minority group. (Police found 
contraband in 10% of the stops of 
white drivers, compared to 8% of the 
stops of African American drivers and 

7.3% of the stops of Latino/Hispanic 
drivers.)3

Unfortunately, recent statewide 
research has revealed similar trends 
throughout Oregon. For example, 
30% of Hispanics and 40% of African 
Americans in Oregon reported one 
or more traffi c stops by police in the 
past year, compared to only 20% of 
Caucasians who reported one or more 
stops.4 Moreover, 21% of African 
American respondents reported being 
stopped by police two or more times 
within the past 12 months, compared 
to only 6% of other respondents from 
the same geographical area. Finally, 
40% of Hispanics and 73% of African 
Americans said that they thought po-
lice lied about the reason for the stop, 
compared with only 25% of whites.5

Local anecdotal evidence sup-
ports these findings. The Portland 
chief of police admitted in a 2005 
court affi davit that the department 
trains offi cers to make pretextual traf-
fi c stops.6 In 2004, Portland police 
shot and killed an unarmed African 
American man after pulling him over 
for failure to signal a turn. The shoot-
ing was the third time an unarmed 
African American person was shot 
by Portland police in three years.7

As recently as 2004, none of the 123 
sheriff patrol deputies in Clackamas 
County were minorities.8 In response 
to several complaints of profi ling, the 
NAACP has raised concerns with the 
Salem Police Department.9 Incidents 

of racial profi ling have also prompted 
calls for reform in Eugene.10

These stories and statistics refl ect 
what many Portland residents have 
experienced for decades. Before the 
Portland stops data were released, 
the community-based organization 
Oregon Action, along with the North-
west Constitutional Rights Center, 
organized a series of community 
listening forums to facilitate a dia-
logue about racial profi ling between 
community members and the police 
in response to concerns. Both orga-
nizations have come up with policy 
recommendations that address com-
munity concerns. Achieving systemic 
reform, however, will require a con-
certed effort of political pressure and 
effective litigation in cases of racial 
profi ling. This article is an overview 
of the current state of the law in the 
Ninth Circuit and in Oregon state 
courts, and we hope it will encourage 
Oregon attorneys to consider litigating 
such cases.

Federal Civil Rights Litigation: 
An Option to Effect Change

When city officials and law 
enforcement agencies fail to 

adequately address the issue, litiga-
tion may bolster community-based 
efforts to end racial profi ling. Several 
developments make this an area ripe 
for impact litigation. First, there is 
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Supreme Court Update
Decided

Beard v. Banks,
No. 04-1739 
(June 28, 2006)

In this 6–2 deci-
sion, the U.S. Su-
preme Court reversed the Third Circuit 
by ruling that a maximum security 
prison in Pennsylvania can withhold 
newspapers, magazines, and photo-
graphs from the most diffi cult inmates 
in an effort to promote security and 
good behavior. The policy does not 
violate the prisoners’ First Amendment 
rights because prisons can put reason-
able restrictions on the constitutional 
rights of inmates.

Burlington Northern & 
Santa Fe Railway Co. v. White,
No. 05-259 (June 22, 2006)

The Court affi rmed the Sixth Circuit, 
ruling 9–0 in favor of a female forklift 
operator who sued her employer for 
retaliatory discrimination under Title 
VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. The 
employee had complained of sexual 
harassment by her boss and was later 
transferred to a job that was equal in 
pay and benefi ts but required “dirtier” 
and “more strenuous” work. She was 
also suspended. The Court held that 
Title VII’s anti-retaliation provision 
covers only those actions “that would 
have been materially adverse to a rea-
sonable employee or job applicant,” 
meaning “the employer’s actions must 
be harmful to the point that they could 
well dissuade a reasonable worker 
from making or supporting a charge 
of discrimination.”

Clark v. Arizona,
No. 05-5966 (June 29, 2006)

On the final day of the Court’s 
2005–2006 term, it ruled 5–4 in favor 
of upholding Arizona’s insanity law 
against a diagnosed paranoid schizo-
phrenic man who presented evidence 
that he shot and killed a police of-
fi cer pursuant to a routine traffi c stop 
because he believed that the offi cer 
was an alien, his town had been taken 
over by aliens, and he was being held 
captive and tortured. Arizona’s insanity 

law allows only 
evi dence that is 
related to proving 
that the defendant 
did not know right 
from wrong. The 
Court ruled that 

the insanity law did not violate the 
defendant’s due process rights.

Davis v. Washington, No. 05-5224; 
Hammon v. Indiana, No. 05-5705 
(June 19, 2006)

The Court unanimously upheld the 
Washington Supreme Court in Da-
vis, holding that an alleged victim’s 
statements to a 911 operator naming 
her assailant were not testimonial 
statements and thus did not make 
the declarant a witness subject to 
the Sixth Amendment confrontation 
clause because the statements had a 
primary purpose of helping the po-
lice provide emergency assistance. 
In Hammon, the Court reversed the 
Indiana Supreme Court, holding that 
statements by an alleged victim to 
offi cers while there was no longer 
an emergency in progress were 
testimonial because her statements 
concerned “what happened” instead 
of “what is happening.” 

Hamdan v. Rumsfeld,
No. 05-184 (June 29, 2006)

The Supreme Court ruled 5–3 for 
Hamdan, Osama bin Laden’s chauf-
feur who was captured in Afghanistan 
and transported to Guantanamo Bay 
Naval Station in Cuba for alleged 
war crimes in the “war on terror.” In 
reversing the D.C. Court of Appeals, 
the Court held that the Bush adminis-
tration’s establishment of war crimes 
tribunals at Guantanamo Bay violates 
both the Geneva Convention and the 
Uniform Code of Military Justice. The 
Court also held that President Bush’s 
presidential powers do not permit the 
establishment of the tribunals, and 
that Congress’s Authorization for the 
Use of Military Force resolution does 
not expand his presidential powers 
so as to permit the establishment of 
the tribunals.
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When Does the First Amendment Protect 
Public Employee Speech on Non-Work-Related Topics?

Jenny M. Morf
Offi ce of 

Multnomah County Attorney
Attorneys representing public 

employers or employees will 
likely have the opportunity to 

assess or litigate a First Amendment 
retaliation claim. An emerging and 
sometimes titillating subset of First 
Amendment law addresses employee 
speech on matters unrelated to the 
employee’s job duties or govern-
ment functions. These cases explore 
whether public employers can restrict 
off-duty or non-work-related speech 
by public employees on topics like 
sex, bigotry, politics, and religion. 

This article fi rst explains the basic 
framework applicable to these First 
Amendment claims, and then surveys 
First Amendment cases in which pub-
lic employees engaged in speech that 
was unrelated to their job duties or 
government functions. 

Evaluating First Amendment 
Claims by Public Employees: 

A Brief, Simplifi ed Primer

P ublic employees do not relin-
quish all of their First Amend-Pquish all of their First Amend-P

ment rights simply by reason of their 
employment in the public service.1

Instead, public employees have the 
right to speak freely as citizens on 
matters of public concern, consistent 
with the interests of the government 
employer in promoting effi cient and 
effective government operations.2

In evaluating First Amendment 
claims by public employees, courts 
employ a two-step inquiry, commonly 
referred to as the Pickering balancing Pickering balancing Pickering
test.3 The threshold inquiry is whether 
the employee spoke as a citizen about 
a matter of public concern.4 If the 
speech was made pursuant to offi cial 
duties (that is, the employee was not 
speaking as a citizen) or pertains to 
matters of purely personal interest,  
the First Amendment is not implicated 
and no further analysis is necessary.5

If, on the other hand, the speech at 
issue was not made pursuant to of-
fi cial duties and relates to a matter of 
public concern, then the second step 
of the Pickering test requires the court Pickering test requires the court Pickering

to balance the employee’s interest 
in expression against the employer’s 
interest in “promoting the effi ciency 
of the public services it performs 
through its employees.”6 Balancing 
the employee and employer’s inter-
ests is done on a case-by-case basis, 
and “[a]lthough such particularized 
balancing is diffi cult, the courts must 
reach the most appropriate possible 
balance of the competing interests.”7

In applying the second step of the 
Pickering balancing test, the time, 
manner, place, and context in which 
the dispute arose must be considered.8

In weighing the competing interests, 
the public’s interest in receiving in-
formed opinions about government 
operations weighs in favor of the em-
ployee.9 In weighing the employer’s 
interest, pertinent considerations 
include whether the statement im-
pairs discipline by superiors, disrupts 
harmony among co-workers, has a 
detrimental impact on close working 
relationships, impedes the perfor-
mance of the employee’s duties, or 
interferes with office operations.10

If the employer attempts to restrict 
speech to avoid a disruption in opera-
tions, the alleged disruption must be 
reasonably likely to occur and cannot 
be entirely speculative.11

If, after balancing these competing 
interests, the employee’s interest in ex-
pression outweighs the government’s 
interest in maintaining effi cient op-
erations, then the First Amendment 
protects the employee from any ad-

verse employment action undertaken 
because of the protected speech. 

Applying the First Amendment 
to Public Employee Expression 

on Non-Work Issues

When the government is acting 
as an employer, it may, under 

certain circumstances, restrict an 
employee’s speech even when the 
employee is not at work or is speak-
ing on non-work-related topics. The 
parameters of such restrictions are 
not entirely clear, but are emerging 
through case law. 

Reasonable restrictions on public 
employee speech are more likely to 
survive challenge than outright bans 
on speech.12 However, public employ-
ers attempting to restrict employee 
speech do so at the risk of violating 
the First Amendment. On the other 
hand, public employees opting to 
voice their personal opinions do so 
at the risk of jeopardizing their jobs, 
especially if the employee serves a 
policymaking function or has contacts 
with the public in his or her capacity 
as a public offi cial.13

The following summaries focus on 
cases in which a public employer took 
action against a public employee for 
engaging in speech related to religion, 
bigotry, sex, or politics.

Religious Expression
Expression of religious views and 

prayer are generally considered re-
lated to matters of public concern, but 
such expression while at work may be 
subject to reasonable restrictions.14

In Berry v. Department of Social Ser-
vices, 447 F.3d 642 (9th Cir. 2006), the 
public employer prohibited Mr. Berry 
from discussing religion with clients, 
conducting prayer meetings in the 
offi ce, and displaying religious items 
in his offi ce that would be visible to 
clients. In upholding the employer’s 
restrictions on religious speech, the 
Court stated:

The Department has successfully 

  ——————————  CONTINUED ON PAGE 4

The threshold inquiry is 
whether the employee spoke 
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of public concern.
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navigated between the Scylla of 
not respecting its employee’s right 
to the free exercise of his religion 
and the Charybdis of violating 
the Establishment Clause of the 
First Amendment by appearing to 
endorse religion. Specifi cally, we 
hold that the public employer’s 
interest in avoiding violations of 
the Establishment Clause and in 
maintaining the conference room 
as a nonpublic forum outweighs 
the resulting limitations on Mr. 
Berry’s free exercise of his reli-
gion at work.15

Although some restrictions on reli-
gious expression may survive a First 
Amendment challenge, a complete 
ban on all religious speech and the 
storage or display of religious artifacts 
will not.16 In Tucker v. California De-
partment of Education, 97 F.3d 1204 
(9th Cir. 1996), the Ninth Circuit 
recognized that a ban on all religious 
expressions “simply goes too far.”17

Expression of Personal Views 
on Race or Homosexuality

Speech about beliefs on race or ho-
mosexuality is generally considered to 
relate to matters of public concern.18

However, expressions of hostile, de-
rogatory, or discriminatory views by 
public employees may not receive 
First Amendment protection.19

In Lumpkin v. Brown, 109 F.3d 1498 
(9th Cir. 1997), the Ninth Circuit 
upheld the dismissal of Reverend 
Lumpkin from his position on the 
San Francisco Human Rights Com-
mission because of his public state-
ments condemning homosexuality.20

The Court reasoned that the city had 
a “heightened expectation that its 
Human Rights Commissioners refrain 
from speaking publicly in a way that 
mocks the City’s antidiscrimination 
policy.”21

In balancing the interests of the 
individual against the interests of 
the employer, law enforcement and 
fi refi ghters have also been held to a 
heightened standard because part of 
their job is to “safeguard the public’s 
opinion of them, particularly with 

regard to a community’s view of the 
respect that police offi cers and fi re-
fi ghters accord the members of that 
community.”22

Expression Related to Sex
Expression concerning sexual ac-

tivity between consenting adults is 
not considered a matter of public 
concern.23

In City of San Diego v. Roe, 543 U.S. 
77 (2004), the plaintiff police offi cer 
created a sexually explicit video and 
sold it on the adults-only section of 
eBay. The offi cer was terminated for 
“conduct unbecoming of an offi cer, 
outside employment, and immoral 
conduct.”24 The Supreme Court up-
held the termination, fi nding that the 
police officer’s expression did not 
address a matter of public concern 
because it did “nothing to inform the 
public” about operations at the police 
department.25 Because the speech at 
issue was not protected, the Court 
did not apply the Pickering balanc-Pickering balanc-Pickering
ing test.

Political Expression
Politically motivated comments are 

considered to address matters of pub-
lic concern and have been afforded 
First Amendment protection when 
the employee’s interest in expression 
outweighs the employer’s interest in 
restricting speech.

In Rankin v. McPherson, 483 U.S. 
378 (1987), a clerical employee in a 
county constable’s offi ce was fi red 
after she stated that if someone at-
tempted to assassinate the president, 
“I hope they get him.”26 The Supreme 
Court held that speech addressing the 
“policies of the President’s adminis-
tration” plainly pertained to matters 
of public concern.27 Although the 
statement was made at the workplace, 
there was no evidence presented that 
it interfered with the effi cient func-
tioning of the offi ce, discredited the 
offi ce, or demonstrated a character 
trait that made the employee unfi t for 
duty.28 In weighing the interests, the 
Court held that when “the employee 

serves no confi dential, policymaking, 
or public contact role, the danger to 
the agency’s successful functioning 
from that employee’s private speech 
is minimal.”29

Conclusion

As evidenced by the case law 
discussed above, application of 

the Pickering balancing test results 
in different outcomes depending on 
the speech at issue, the nature of the 
employment relationship, and the 
effect of the speech on government 
operations. 

Whether representing a public em-
ployer or employee in a First Amend-
ment claim, attorneys should prepare 
themselves to navigate this emerging 
area of law. ✦

Jenny M. Morf is an assistant county 
attorney with the Offi ce of Multnomah 
County Attorney.
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Recent Decisions

Richard F. Liebman
Barran Liebman LLP

Dark v. Curry County,
451 F.3d 1078 (9th Cir. 2006)

In remanding this Oregon case for 
trial, the Ninth Circuit held that a 
reasonable juror might fi nd that two of 
the three accommodations proposed 
by the plaintiff for his epilepsy were 
reasonable. The plaintiff fi rst asserted 
that a temporary change in his duties 
would be effective accommodation, 
but the court held that the county was 
not obligated to restructure his posi-
tion by exempting him from essential 
functions. However, the court found 
that reassignment might be a reason-
able accommodation, considering 
the positions that were contempora-
neously available and positions that 
became available within a reasonable 
period. The court also found that the 
county might have reasonably ac-
commodated the plaintiff by allowing 
him to use accumulated sick leave or 
unpaid medical leave. Recovery time 
of an unspecifi ed duration may be 
reasonable in a particular case. 

Deveraturda v. Globe Aviation 
Security Serv., 454 F.3d 1043 
(9th Cir. 2006) 

The court held that a private em-
ployer is not required to give a WARN 
Act notice when the layoff of its 
employees is ordered by the federal 
government and the private employer 
had nothing to do with conditions that 
brought layoffs about. 

United States v. Ziegler, United States v. Ziegler, United States v. Ziegler
No. 05-30177, 2006 WL 2255688 
(9th Cir. Aug. 8, 2006)

The court held that the employee 
did not have a reasonable expecta-
tion of privacy in material in his of-
fi ce computer. Therefore, the child 
pornography that the employee had 
downloaded onto that computer was 
admissible in criminal proceedings 
after the employer turned the com-

puter over to the FBI. The court found 
that a company’s mere ownership of a 
computer may not be suffi cient alone 
to defeat an expectation of privacy, 
but when coupled with a right of 
company access, routine monitoring, 
and a prohibition against private use, 
there is no reasonable expectation of 
privacy.

Federal Rule 
of Appellate Procedure 32.1

On August 12, 2006, the U.S. Su-
preme Court approved a new Federal 
Rule of Appellate Procedure 32.1, 
which permits attorneys to cite unpub-
lished opinions in the federal circuit 
courts. The rule takes effect January 1, 
2007, and only specifi cally allows the 
citing of unpublished opinions that are 
fi led after January 1, 2007. The Ninth 
Circuit currently prohibits the citing 
of unpublished opinions. ✦

Rick Liebman, a partner at Barran Lieb-
man LLP, has represented employers in 
labor and employment law for 33 years.
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Hudson v. Michigan,
No. 03-9168 (June 15, 2006)

The police offi cers in this case ob-
tained a warrant to search a person’s 
home for drugs and firearms, but 
they failed to knock and waited only 
three to fi ve seconds after announc-
ing themselves before they entered 
the person’s home. In a 5–4 ruling 
affi rming the Michigan Court of Ap-
peals, the Supreme Court  held that a 
violation of the Fourth Amendment’s 
knock-and-announce rule does not 
require exclusion of evidence, except 
in cases in which its deterrence of 
improper police conduct outweighs 
its substantial social costs.

Kansas v. Marsh,
No. 04-1170 (June 26, 2006)

The Court reversed the Kansas 
Supreme Court in a 5–4 decision, 
holding that Kansas’s death penalty 
statute constitutionally instructs jurors 
to impose death when mitigating and 
aggravating factors are equal. The 
Court held that while state systems 
must rationally narrow the class of 
death-eligible defendants and permit 
a jury to render a reasonable, indi-
vidualized sentencing determination, 
states have discretion in imposing the 
death penalty, including the manner 
in which mitigating and aggravating 
circumstances are weighed.

Randall v. Sorrell, No. 04-1528; Randall v. Sorrell, No. 04-1528; Randall v. Sorrell
Vermont Republican State Com-
mittee v. Sorrell, No. 04-1530; 
Sorrell v. Randall, 04-1697 
(June 26, 2006)

The Court held 6–3 that a Vermont 
statute that imposes expenditure and 
contribution limitations on cam-
paigns for state offi ce violates the First 
Amendment. In reversing the Second 
Circuit, the Court held that limiting the 
amount that candidates for state offi ce 
can spend on their campaigns violates 
the First Amendment. Furthermore, 
although Vermont had a compelling 
interest in preventing campaign cor-
ruption, the statute’s contribution lim-
its were not so narrowly tailored as to 
avoid placing an unreasonable burden 
on protected speech rights.

Samson v. California,
No. 04-9728 (June 19, 2006)

The Supreme Court ruled 6–3 that 
the Fourth Amendment does not forbid 
police from conducting a warrantless 
and suspicionless search of a parolee. 
Here, an offi cer’s search of a parolee 
yielded methamphetamine. The pa-
rolee unsuccessfully challenged the 
California statute that requires prison-
ers eligible for state parole to consent 
in writing to a search or seizure based 
only on their status as a parolee.

Sanchez-Llamas v. Oregon,
No. 04-10566; Bustillo v. Johnson,
No. 05-51 (June 28, 2006)

The Court affi rmed decisions from 
the supreme courts of Oregon and 
Virginia, holding 5–4 that even assum-
ing without deciding that the Vienna 
Convention creates judicially enforce-
able individual rights of consular 
notifi cation and access to a foreign 
detainee, a state’s failure to notify a 
foreign detainee of his rights under the 
Convention does not require suppres-
sion of statements made to police.

U.S. v. Gonzalez-Lopez,
No. 05-352 (June 26, 2006)

In a 5–4 vote, the Court affi rmed 
the Eighth Circuit’s decision that the 
erroneous denial of a defendant’s 
choice of counsel violates the Sixth 
Amendment and is grounds for revers-
ing a conviction. Here, the defendant 
attempted to change lawyers before 
trial, his pro hac vice motion for his 
new counsel was erroneously denied, 
and he was later convicted of con-
spiracy to distribute marijuana.

Youngblood v. West Virginia,
No. 05-6997 (June 19, 2006)

In a per curiam opinion, the Su-
preme Court ruled that withholding 
material evidence obtained after a 
prisoner’s conviction violates due 
process as stated in Brady v. Mary-
land, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). Here, the land, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). Here, the land
prisoner’s attorney found an exculpa-
tory note after the prisoner was con-
victed and sentenced to 25–60 years 
for sexual assault. Evidence existed 
showing that the note had been shown

to the investigating police offi cer, but 
that the offi cer had refused to take it 
and told the owner to destroy it.

Certiorari Granted

Gonzales v. Planned Parenthood, 
et al., No. 05-1382 (June 19, 2006)

The Court agreed to hear a case 
from the Ninth Circuit regarding the 
constitutionality of the Partial-Birth 
Abortion Ban Act of 2003. The Ninth 
Circuit held that the act was unconsti-
tutional on three grounds: it imposed 
an undue burden on a woman’s right 
to choose, it was unconstitutionally 
vague, and it failed to include a health 
exception for the mother. ✦

Rachelle Hong Barton is an associ-
ate with the Portland offi ce of Fisher & 
 Phillips LLP, one of the largest national 
law fi rms representing employers in labor 
and employment law matters.

Matthew Duckworth is an associate of 
Busse & Hunt, which represents employ-
ees in employment cases, concentrating 
in civil rights, discrimination, harass-
ment, wrongful discharge, defamation, 
and fraud.

Video Available
Traffi c Stops CLE

The Civil Rights Section co-
sponsored a CLE entitled “Traffi c 
Stops, Civil Rights, and You” in 
2004, following several police 
shootings arising out of traffi c 
stops. The CLE explored legal 
and political issues surrounding 
traffi c stops that lead to violence 
and how cultural differences 
between citizens and police 
can affect traffi c stops. The CLE, 
which provided diversity training 
to help bridge the cultural gap, 
was taped. A limited number of 
videos are available at $25 each. 
The CLE has been approved for 
1.25 General CLE credits and 
1.0 Diversity CLE credits. If you 
would like to purchase a video, 
please contact Dennis Steinman 
at dsteinman@kelrun.com.
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growing recognition of the problem 
in Oregon, as evidenced by the pas-
sage of Senate Bill 415 (2001), which 
urges law enforcement agencies to 
establish voluntary traffi c-stop data 
collection programs and created a 
state committee to analyze and report 
on the data collected.11 Second, local 
law enforcement agencies, including 
those in Portland and Eugene, now 
collect stop data. Finally, the Ninth 
Circuit has made several statements 
in dicta that suggest it is receptive to 
racial-profi ling claims. United States 
v. Montero-Camargo, 208 F.3d 1122, 
1135 n.24 (9th Cir. 2000) (“A signifi -
cant body of research shows that race 
is routinely and improperly used as a 
proxy for criminality.”); Washington 
v. Lambert, 98 F.3d 1181, 1187 (9th 
Cir. 1996) (“We cannot help but be 
aware that the burden of aggressive 
and intrusive police action falls dis-
proportionately on African-American, 
and sometimes Latino, males.”)

In the federal courts, victims of 
racial profi ling can pursue legal ac-
tion under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 on the 
basis that law enforcement offi cers’ 
conduct violated the Fourth Amend-
ment and the equal protection clause 
of the U.S. Constitution. Plaintiffs may 
also pursue other civil rights actions, 
including actions under 42 U.S.C. §§ 
1981, 1985, and 1986 and Title VI of 
the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. 
§ 2000d). Because the burden of proof 
of discriminatory intent required to 
successfully allege a violation under 
these statutes is similar to that under 
§ 1983, they are not discussed further 
here. See, e.g., Alexander v. Sandoval, See, e.g., Alexander v. Sandoval, See, e.g., Alexander v. Sandoval
532 U.S. 275, 276 (2001) (Title VI 
plaintiffs must prove intentional dis-
crimination); Caldeira v. County of 
Kauai, 866 F.2d 1175, 1182 (9th Cir. 
1989) (absence of a § 1983 violation 
precludes a § 1985 claim based on 
the same facts). This article focuses 
on Ninth Circuit and Oregon District 
jurisprudence on Fourth Amendment 
and equal protection claims for ra-
cial profi ling and identifi es the proof 
necessary to survive a motion for 
summary judgment.

Fourth Amendment Protections
The Fourth Amendment’s prohibi-

tion against unlawful searches and sei-
zures grants broad discretion to police 
offi cers conducting stops in the fi eld. 
A seizure occurs when a reasonable 
person would not feel free to end the 
encounter with the law enforcement 
offi cer. United States v. Mendenhall, 
446 U.S. 544, 554 (1980). Such stops, 
however, need only be reasonable 
to withstand Fourth Amendment 
scrutiny. Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 
9 (1968). Police offi cers meet this 
threshold if they have “a reasonable 
suspicion supported by articulable 
facts that criminal activity may be 
afoot.” United States v. Sokolow, 490 
U.S. 1, 7 (1989). In Sokolow, the U.S. 
Supreme Court held that an offi cer’s 
reliance on a profi le of criminal char-
acteristics could lead to reasonable 
suspicion. Id. at 11. 

Race or ethnic appearance alone is 
insuffi cient to justify a stop or arrest. 
United States v. Montero-Camargo, 
208 F.3d 1122 (9th Cir. 2000). Courts 
will not inquire into the offi cer’s actual 
motive, however, if an offi cer observes 
any violation of law justifying the stop. 
Whren v. United States, 517 U.S. 806, 
813 (1996).12 Thus, a plaintiff assert-
ing a Fourth Amendment claim on the 
basis of racial profi ling by the defen-
dant offi cer may succeed if he or she 
can show that the law enforcement 
offi cer stopped him or her without 
reasonable suspicion of any traffi c 
violation or other unlawful activity. 
United States v. Jimenez-Medina, 173 
F.3d 752, 754 (9th Cir. 1999). 

A victim of racial profi ling may also 
assert a Fourth Amendment claim if 
police prolong the stop or otherwise 
act unreasonably in view of the reason 
for the stop. Florida v. Royer, 460 U.S. 
491, 500 (1983). For example, under 
ordinary circumstances, when the 
police have only reasonable suspicion 
to make an investigatory stop, draw-
ing weapons and using handcuffs and 
other restraints will violate the Fourth 
Amendment. Washington v. Lambert, 
98 F.3d at 1187. See also United States 

v. Higareda-Santa, 826 F. Supp. 355, 
358–359 (D. Or. 1993) (holding that 
the offi cer had reasonable suspicion 
that the driver was drunk to justify a 
stop but unlawfully prolonged the 
detention when he continued ques-
tioning after he knew the driver was 
not intoxicated). 

Equal Protection Claims 
In addition to Fourth Amendment 

claims, a victim of racial profi ling may 
assert that an offi cer’s actions violated 
the Fourteenth Amendment guarantee 
of equal protection of the law. Unless 
there is an explicit policy authoriz-
ing stops based on race (which is 
unlikely), a plaintiff must prove that 
the police offi cer acted with intent to 
discriminate based on race. Bingham 
v. Manhattan Beach, 341 F.3d 939, 
948 (9th Cir. 2003). This is a high 
evidentiary hurdle.

In Bingham, the plaintiff pointed 
to the following facts as evidence of 
racial motivation: (1) he was African 
American and the offi cer was white, 
(2) the offi cer could see the plaintiff’s 
race prior to the traffi c stop, (3) the 
stop occurred in a city that was pre-
dominantly white, and (4) the offi cer 
said that he pulled the plaintiff over 
for erratic driving but never issued a 
citation. Id. at 948. The court held that 
these facts failed to set forth suffi cient 
evidence of racial motivation to sur-
vive a motion for summary judgment. 
Id. On the other hand, in Jordan v. 
City of Eugene, the court distinguished 
Bingham and held that the plaintiff 
presented suffi cient evidence to sur-
vive summary judgment—an offi cer 
stopped and frisked him, an African 
American man, but did not stop or 
frisk his four white companions. No. 
05-6164-TC, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 
38839, at *24 (D. Or. June 12, 2006) 
(unpublished opinion). 

An offi cer’s “racially tinged” state-
ments can also provide sufficient 
evidence of discriminatory intent. 
See Serrano v. Francis, 345 F.3d 1071, 
1083 (9th Cir. 2003). In Serrano, the 
plaintiff asserted an equal protection 
  ——————————  CONTINUED ON PAGE 8
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challenge to a prison disciplinary 
hearing on the ground that the hear-
ing offi cer was racially biased. Id.
at 1082. During the hearing, the of-
fi cer said, “I do not know how black 
people think, and I’ll never know” 
and told the plaintiff that he was “not 
O.J. Simpson or Johnnie Cochran.” 
Id. at 1083. The Ninth Circuit found 
that the offi cer’s statements were suf-
ficient evidence of discriminatory 
intent to survive a motion for summary 
judgment. Id. See also Christopher 
v. Nestlerode, 373 F. Supp. 2d 503, 
519 (M.D. Pa. 2005) (holding that 
confl icting accounts of whether the 
offi cer recognized the plaintiff’s race 
before the stop, whether the offi cer 
had a valid reason for the stop, and 
what was said during the stop made 
intent a question for the jury). These 
cases suggest that a victim of racial 
profi ling will have to present similar 
“smoking gun” evidence in order to 
survive summary judgment. 

Statistical evidence may bolster a 
claim of intentional discrimination 
when racial disparities “are very diffi -
cult to explain on nonracial grounds.” 
Washington v. Davis, 426 U.S. 229, 
242 (1976). A precinct-by-precinct 
analysis of the traffi c stops data col-
lected by the Portland police shows 
that African Americans are more 
likely to be pulled over in precincts 
where African Americans account for 
a smaller percentage of the population 
than in other precincts. For example, 
an African American living in the 
Northeast Precinct, where African 
Americans constitute about 20% of 
the population, is 2.3 times more like-
ly to be pulled over than a white driver 
in the same precinct.13 By contrast, in 
the Southeast Precinct, where only 2% 
of the population is African American, 
black drivers are 4.4 times more likely 
to be stopped than white drivers. This 
suggests that Portland police offi cers 
may be targeting African Americans 
driving through areas of Portland that 
are predominantly white. 

However, only in “rare cases [has] 
a statistical pattern of discriminatory 

impact demonstrated a constitutional 
violation.” McCleskey v. Kemp, 481 
U.S. 279, 293 (1987). In McCleskey, 
for example, the Court rejected evi-
dence that the odds of a defendant’s 
receiving the death penalty in Georgia 
when the victim was white were 4.3 
times higher than when the victim 
was African American—even after 
controlling for nonracial variables. 
Id. at 286. The Court reasoned that it 
required proof beyond statistical pat-
terns for Georgia as a whole to show 
that invidious discrimination led to 
the judgment in an individual case. 
Id. at 293–294. 

Similarly, in United States v. Arm-
strong, 517 U.S. 456, 470–471 
(1996), criminal defendants sought 
discovery on a selective prosecution 
claim based on the fact that in every 
one of the 24 crack-cocaine cases 
closed by the public defender’s offi ce 
the prior year, the defendant was Af-
rican American. Id. at 459. The Court 
rejected this evidence as insuffi cient 
to require further discovery because 
the plaintiffs “failed to show that the 
Government declined to prosecute 
similarly situated suspects of other 
races.” Id. at 458. 

While neither the Ninth Circuit nor 
the District of Oregon has directly 
addressed the issue, other federal 
courts have distinguished Armstrong 
from civil racial-profi ling cases. For 
example, in Chavez v. Illinois State 
Police, the court held that racial-
 profi ling plaintiffs could use statistics 
to prove discriminatory effect in sup-
port of their equal protection claim. 
251 F.3d 612, 640 (7th Cir. 2001). The 
court held that Armstrong did not ap-Armstrong did not ap-Armstrong
ply because the racial-profi ling case 
involved police conduct, not pros-
ecutorial discretion, and was a civil 
complaint, not a criminal prosecution. 
Id. See also Rodriguez v. California 
Hwy Patrol, 89 F. Supp. 2d 1131, 
1140–1142 (N.D. Cal. 2000) (reach-
ing the same conclusion). The Ninth 
Circuit has recognized that racial 
profi ling is pervasive in law enforce-
ment and that “[s]tops based on race 

or ethnic appearance . . . send a clear 
message that those who are not white 
enjoy a lesser degree of constitutional 
protection.” Montero-Camargo, 208 
F.3d at 1135, n.24; see also Wash-
ington v. Lambert, 98 F.3d at 1187. 
Thus, the court may be persuaded to 
distinguish Armstrong in civil casesArmstrong in civil casesArmstrong
and allow statistical evidence to sup-
port an equal protection claim. 

Class Action Issues
Federal class actions against police 

departments showing that federal 
constitutional or statutory rights were 
violated can be a powerful remedial 
mechanism to address racial profi ling. 
Litigators must go to court prepared, 
however, to win class certifi cation and 
prove municipal liability. These issues 
are discussed briefl y below.

Class certifi cation requires proof 
that (1) the class is so numerous that 
joinder is impracticable, (2) there are 
questions of law and fact common 
to the class, (3) the claims of the rep-
resentative parties are typical of the 
class, and (4) the representative parties 
will adequately protect the interests 
of the class. Fed. R. Civ. Proc. 23(a). 
Rule 23(b)(2) permits class actions for 
declaratory or injunctive relief when 
the defendant “has acted or refused 
to act on grounds generally appli-
cable to the class.” Plaintiffs seeking 
a class action for damages may do so 
under Rule 23(b)(3) if they can show 
that common questions of law or fact 
predominate and class resolution is 
“superior to other available methods 
for the fair and effi cient adjudication 
of the controversy.” 

To establish numerosity, a plaintiff 
must demonstrate some evidence or 
reasonable estimate of the number of 
purported class members. See Siles 
v. ILGWU Nat’l Retirement Fund, 
783 F.2d 923, 930 (9th Cir. 1986). 
The Ninth Circuit has suggested that 
a class with less than 40 plaintiffs 
could suffi ce. Jordan v. County of Los 
Angeles, 669 F.2d 1311, 1319 (9th 
Cir. 1982), vacated on other grounds, 

  ——————————  CONTINUED ON PAGE 9
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459 U.S. 810 (1982). In addition, “the 
relatively small size of each class 
member’s claim” supports a fi nding 
that joinder would be impracticable. 
Id. at 1320. This might prove helpful 
to racial-profi ling plaintiffs since the 
harm suffered during a single illegal 
stop by police may not be suffi cient to 
justify bringing an individual suit. 

In Hodgers-Durgin v. De la Vina, for 
example, two named plaintiffs repre-
sented a class defi ned “as all persons 
of Latin, Hispanic or Mexican ap-
pearance who have been, are, or will 
be traveling by motor vehicle” on the 
highways in certain Arizona counties. 
199 F.3d 1037, 1040 (9th Cir. 1999). 
Though the named plaintiffs lacked 
standing to seek injunctive relief be-
cause they failed to prove likelihood 
of future injury (since they had been 
stopped only once in ten years), the 
court noted that plaintiffs who had 
been stopped several times, had they 
been named plaintiffs, would have 
cleared this hurdle. Id. at 1044–1045.

 Even if plaintiffs are able to certify 
a class, however, they must prove 
municipal liability if they want to 
achieve citywide reform. Munici-
pal liability under § 1983 requires 
proof of a policy or custom that led 
to the deprivation of the plaintiff’s 
constitutional rights. Monell v. Dep’t 
of Soc. Servs., 436 U.S. 658 (1978). 
The plaintiff must demonstrate that 
the offi cial policy or custom is itself 
unconstitutional or that the city’s “de-
liberate indifference” to the plaintiff’s 
constitutional rights was the direct 
cause of the injury. Canton v. Harris, 
489 U.S. 378, 389 (1989). 

A municipality’s failure to train its 
employees may amount to “deliber-
ate indifference” if lack of training 
refl ects a conscious choice by city 
policymakers (that is, gross negligence 
will not meet the evidentiary burden). 
The lower courts have heeded the 
Supreme Court’s warning to avoid 
“second-guessing municipal em-
ployee-training programs” and have 
steered clear of evaluating whether 
employee trainings are suffi cient. Id.

at 391–392. Thus, it appears that any 
amount of training may be enough to 
rebut a charge of deliberate indiffer-
ence on the part of the municipality. 

A plaintiff may show deliberate 
indifference, however, if the munici-
pality has failed to train its employees 
and there is “a pattern of violations 
from which a kind of ‘tacit authori-
zation’ by city policymakers can be 
inferred.” Id. at 397 (J. O’Connor, 
concurring in part and dissenting in 
part). To prevail under that theory, 
plaintiffs must show (1) a clear and 
persistent pattern of illegal activity; 
(2) notice or constructive notice on the 
part of the policymaking offi cial; (3) 
the offi cial’s tacit approval of the un-
constitutional conduct, such that the 
deliberate indifference amounts to an 
offi cial policy of inaction; and (4) the 
inaction directly led to the constitu-
tional deprivation. M.N.O. v. Magana, 
2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 13042, at *27 
(D. Or. March 6, 2006) (unpublished 
opinion). See also Merritt v. County of 
Los Angeles, 875 F.2d 765, 770 (9th 
Cir. 1989).

The Portland Police Bureau requires 
its offi cers to receive classes in “cul-
tural competency” and to complete 
a computer-based course called 
“Perspectives in Profi ling” which, ac-
cording to the bureau, “allows offi cers 
to be introspective regarding uncon-
scious biases that may factor in their 
decision-making.”14 Despite these 
trainings however, the traffi c stops 
data show that Portland police offi cers 
continue to use race as a factor in their 
decisions to stop drivers. The Ninth 
Circuit has not considered whether 
any kind of training, including training 
that appears to have no effect in curb-
ing unconstitutional practices within 
a police department, is suffi cient for 
a municipality to defeat a charge of 
“deliberate indifference.” 

State Claims: An Untested Option

T he U.S. Constitution sets only 
the fl oor, not the ceiling, for indi-Tthe fl oor, not the ceiling, for indi-T

vidual rights and liberties. States are 
free to afford their citizens a higher 

level of protection from selective law 
enforcement. Racial-profi ling plain-
tiffs in Oregon, however, have not yet 
availed themselves of potential state 
causes of action. 

The Oregon Constitution and state 
laws offer several potential avenues to 
redress racial profi ling. For example, 
seizures or searches for evidence to be 
used in a criminal prosecution that are 
conducted without a warrant or suspi-
cion of wrongdoing violate Article I, 
§ 9, of the Oregon Constitution. Nel-
son v. Lane County, 304 Or. 97, 101, 
743 P.2d 692 (1997). In Nelson, the 
Oregon Supreme Court analyzed the 
legality of DUI roadblocks under state 
law separately from its Fourth Amend-
ment analysis, indicating a willingness 
to depart from federal jurisprudence 
on search and seizure issues. 

In addition, like the Fourteenth 
Amendment’s guarantee of equal 
protection, “Article I, section 20, of 
the Oregon Constitution prohibits 
disparate treatment of groups or indi-
viduals by virtue of invidious social 
categories.” Hewitt v. State Accident 
Ins. Fund Corp., 294 Or. 33, 43, 653 
P.2d 970 (1982). Though the Oregon 
courts apply a suspect-class analysis 
similar to the federal courts’ juris-
prudence under the equal protection 
clause, they have on occasion ex-
tended greater protections to Oregon 
citizens. See id. at 41–46 (holding 
that gender-based classifi cations are 
subject to strict scrutiny in Oregon 
even though the U.S. Supreme Court 
applied only intermediate scrutiny).

For example, in Tanner v. Oregon 
Health Sciences University, the Or-
egon Court of Appeals held that 
homosexuality was a suspect classifi -
cation though federal courts have so 
far rejected that contention. 157 Or. 
App. 502, 524, 971 P.2d 435 (1998). 
In addition, the court stated that 
intentional conduct is not required 
for discrimination to be actionable 
under Article 1, § 20. Id. at 525 (citing 
Zockert v. Fanning, 310 Or. 514, 523, 
800 P.2d 773 (1990)). Rather, “what 
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is relevant is the extent to which privileges or immunities 
are not made available to all citizens on equal terms.” Id.
This holding, however, has yet to be tested in the context 
of law enforcement practices.

Finally, Oregon law provides a civil action for damages 
for violations of the state’s criminal anti-intimidation stat-
ute. ORS § 30.198 (2006). A prevailing plaintiff is entitled 
to attorney fees under the law. Id. A person violates the 
anti-intimidation law if he or she intentionally threatens or 
subjects another to offensive physical contact on the basis 
of race. ORS § 166.155 (2006). Though there is no case law 
on the issue, victims of racial profi ling might try to assert 
this cause of action when law enforcement offi cers’ actions 
are particularly egregious. 

A Call to Action

In the recent community listening sessions on racial pro-
fi ling in Portland, one African American man who was 

stopped and questioned by police for no apparent reason 
simply asked of the detaining offi cer, “Give me the same 
respect you would give the next person.” Yet, despite the 
well-documented, nationwide problem of racial profi ling, 
police continue to single people out based on their race. 
Litigation may be an effective tool to fi ght this practice, 
especially when plaintiffs can prove municipal liability. 

Class actions present another avenue for litigation when 
a suffi cient number of individuals have common questions 
of law and fact. While class certifi cation and establishing 
municipal liability are signifi cant hurdles, this litigation 
can have a positive effect in pressuring decision makers to 
implement much-needed reform. Nevertheless, even cases 
against individual offi cers may force departments to take a 
hard look at how race plays a part in their tactics. Because 
racial-profi ling litigation poses challenges, the Northwest 
Constitutional Rights Center has set aside resources to sup-
port collaborating attorneys with this type of public interest 
litigation in Portland, as part of its long-term effort to end 
this practice within the Portland Police Bureau. ✦

Shauna Curphey will start as the Northwest Constitutional 
Rights Center’s fellow attorney in October 2006; Alejandro 
Queral is the Center’s executive director. For more information 
about the Northwest Constitutional Rights Center or to make a 
donation, please contact Mr. Queral at aqueral@nwcrc.org, or 
visit www.nwcrc.org.
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